

WORKING PAPER

JUNE 2023

The Geopolitics of the Semiconductor Industry and India's Place in It

Konark Bhandari

The Geopolitics of the Semiconductor Industry and India's Place in It

Konark Bhandari

© 2023 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

Carnegie does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Carnegie, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from Carnegie India or the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue NW Washington, D.C. 20036 P: + 1 202 483 7600 F: + 1 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

Carnegie India Unit C-5 & C-6, Edenpark, Shaheed Jeet Singh Marg New Delhi – 110016, India P: +011 4008687 CarnegieIndia.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at CarnegieIndia.org

Contents

Introduction	1
The Shortage of Chips	3
Why Semiconductors?	4
Fragmentation by Default vs. Decoupling by Design	7
Possible Consequences of Export-Control Measures	9
Standard-Developing Organizations—The Next Battleground?	16
Bloc by Bloc: Where Do India and Others Stand?	19
Conclusion	26
About the Author	29
Notes	31
Carnegie India	41

Introduction

For some time now, it has been almost conventional wisdom that states that trade with each other have less of an incentive to act with hostility toward each other. It was believed that economic interdependence would help prevent aggression.¹ This argument is being severely tested when it comes to relations between China and the United States. While the prospect of any military conflict between them is low, there has been an undeniable surge in tension in their trade relationship.

Rising tensions have set China and the United States on a gradual economic decoupling. The technology export-control measures that were unveiled by former U.S. president Donald Trump's administration in May 2019 and May 2020 have not been rolled back by the subsequent Joe Biden administration, and they have set both countries striving for self-sufficiency. Nowhere is this more evident than in the semiconductor industry.

The last few years have seen a pressing shortage of semiconductors, which matters greatly since the industries of the future will be heavily reliant on chips. Semiconductors will be critical to the foundational technologies of artificial intelligence (AI), 3D printing, the Internet of Things, and advanced robotics, and any shortage in them will hurt not only the economic prospects of technology companies but also of countries that hope to deploy such technology. Semiconductors have long been critical to the functioning of various industries, ranging from aerospace to automobiles. An estimate put the number of industries impacted by the recent global semiconductor shortage at 169.²

The shortage can be ascribed to various reasons. First, the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic led to most semiconductor foundries redirecting their supply to industries that saw an increase in demand for their products. Bringing back this supply to where it was at the start of the pandemic has been very challenging. Second, a series of disasters ranging from fires to earthquakes and droughts affected key supply-chain hubs and further exacerbated the shortage.³ Third, Moore's Law, according to which the number of transistors in integrated circuits doubles roughly every two years, is now seen as taking longer to play out and even as possibly having become obsolete.⁴ Last, and most significantly, export-control measures were initiated by the Trump administration in 2019 to prohibit the supply of certain semiconductor technologies to proscribed Chinese entities, and these measures were further tightened in 2020. However, before the export-control measures took effect, Chinese entities stockpiled a massive number of semiconductor technologies and machinery, worsening the shortage.

The U.S. export-control measures are likely to be the most enduring reason for semiconductor supply chains undergoing a significant restructuring in the coming years. The pandemic continues to subside and the use of specialized hardware to speed up processing power has extended the relevance of Moore's Law into the near future,⁵ but the U.S. measures are unlikely to be withdrawn. What is more, the Biden administration is reportedly considering further measures to ensure that even mature and older semiconductor design technologies do not end up in Chinese hands.⁶ Given the severity of these measures, a gradual decoupling between China and the United States in various spheres looks to be in the offing. However, while a technological decoupling seems to be underway, predicting how it will unfold is fraught with uncertainty, given that the evolution of most technologies is not linear.⁷

At a time when almost all major countries are seeking to build self-sufficiency in their supply chains, an excessive focus on doing so risks building inward-looking supply chains that do not interact with each other or supply chains containing bubbles that are not interoperable. And if there are different product specifications and components that are not interoperable, the process of setting standards will become even more critical and the next battleground in the quest for technological dominance.⁸ Standard setting in semiconductors is currently a competition between China, Europe, and the United States, with none enjoying unquestioned dominance.

This paper looks at the key reasons for the semiconductor shortage and highlights how the U.S. export-control measures were shaped by a variety of security, trade, and economic factors. It then looks at whether this is part of a larger, lasting technological decoupling between China and the United States—different from the fragmentation of supply chains in the semiconductor industry in the 1980s—and, if so, how this may impact standard-setting initiatives. Last, it looks at how others, including India, may fit in a world with distinct tech blocs.

The Shortage of Chips

Following the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, the automobile industry suffered the crippling effects of a shortage in semiconductors. The concentrated nature of the semiconductor supply chain further exacerbated matters since there were no alternatives to the usual suppliers. There were several causes for the shortage.

First, the pandemic led to a sudden albeit momentary disruption in global supply chains for almost all products and services. The semiconductor industry was no exception. For instance, due to a nosedive in automobile sales, many automobile companies had to cancel orders or to invoke provisions in their order contracts to halt the supply of semiconductors.⁹ Meanwhile, the key foundries redirected their supply of semiconductors to other industries such as consumer electronics and cloud computing, which witnessed a surge in demand as work-from-home became a normal practice.

Second, a series of disasters restricted the supply of semiconductors. A massive earthquake in Japan in February 2021 led to a substantial constriction in output.¹⁰ A major fire in Japan at one of the biggest factories of Renesas reduced the ability of this prominent chip supplier to fulfill orders to automakers worldwide.¹¹ Lastly, a drought in Taiwan prompted it to cut water supply to a major chip making hub, Taichung, as it directed manufacturers to conserve water that is normally used for industrial purposes.¹²

Third, the semiconductor industry is now realizing that Moore's Law has a limit. New estimates state that doubling the number of transistors in integrated circuits every two years or less would now cost eighteen times more in resources than it did in 1970.¹³ Manufacturing semiconductors has become a highly capital-intensive and complex process, and capacity is an issue since quick upgrades are becoming harder to produce. On top of this, scholars have pointed out that the semiconductor industry is prone to other problems as well. These range from the rising costs of chip design to finding talent in an industry that has a very high-risk and high-reward nature.¹⁴

Last, the U.S. export-control measures of 2019 permitted sales of products that contained less than 25 percent of U.S-made content (later changed to 10 percent), and thus sales to Chinese entities continued. The United States then completely prohibited the sale of any product containing technology made by American companies to entities blacklisted by the Commerce Department.¹⁵ Meanwhile, Chinese entities such as Huawei stockpiled goods and ordered several months', if not years', worth of semiconductors for products such as Xilinx's field-programmable gate arrays that Huawei uses for its base station technology.¹⁶ Therefore, there was a massive surge in demand for chips before the pandemic, which exacerbated the ensuing chip shortage.

The U.S. export-control measures are implemented by the Department of Commerce's Bureau of Industry and Security (BIS). The BIS is responsible for ensuring that the Export Administration Regulations—the rules and laws that govern the export and reexport of commodities, software, and technologies ("items")—are implemented in a manner that advances national security, foreign policy, and economic objectives, including "continued U.S. strategic technology leadership."¹⁷ Whether an item is controlled by the BIS usually depends on whether it appears on the Commerce Control List. Even if an item does not appear on this list, it could still require a license from the BIS.¹⁸

Chinese companies appearing on the Commerce Department's Restricted Entity List are barred from receiving U.S. exports, unless companies wanting to sell to them are granted an export license by the BIS. Such licenses are reportedly often granted.¹⁹ However, with such sales to China coming under increasing scrutiny from the Biden administration, a tightening of the approval processes for licenses is likely.

Why Semiconductors?

The Trump administration did not originally envisage using export-control measures on semiconductors to extract leverage in its trade negotiations with China.²⁰ The negotiations were started to redress what the administration perceived as unfair trade practices by China and the massive trade deficit it ran against the United States. However, the discussions turned increasingly contentious with each side accusing the other of not negotiating in earnest.²¹ The presence of China "hawks" in Trump's cabinet had led some in China to warn about the prospect of a trade war. For example, Pei Changchong, the director general of the Institute of Economics of Chinese Academy of Social Sciences, surmised that, given Trump's choice of cabinet officials, there was a high likelihood of trade friction with the United States.²²

In March 2017, the Chinese telecommunications firm ZTE Corporation was fined \$892 million after pleading guilty to violating U.S. sanctions law. In April 2018, it admitted that it had lied about complying with the terms of the settlement with the U.S. government, and the Department of Commerce immediately placed a ban on American companies on selling to the company.²³ ZTE was largely used as a bargaining chip in the trade war with China, and this ban was later removed. China saw this episode as another reminder that the United States did not want a trade deal, but rather to stifle its technological advance.²⁴ The Trump administration's May 2018 announcement that the United States would start proceedings to restrict Chinese investment and toughen export controls on Chinese purchases of

"industrially significant technology" did not counter that perception.²⁵ This was when China woke up to the reality that it could be cut off from supply chains for the cutting-edge components and equipment that would power the next generation of technologies. The trade war was officially turning into a technology war.

In June 2018, China offered to address the trade deficit and to boost imports of U.S. goods, especially semiconductors. The Trump administration was reportedly intrigued by the offer and even asked American high-tech executives what semiconductor products could be freed from export controls.²⁶ This shows that semiconductor technology was not yet at the heart of the dispute with China.

For some time, China's offer was considered a win-win. As recently as February 2019, the thinking in the Trump administration was that it should encourage China to buy more U.S. chips rather than cut it off from the ecosystem, which would encourage it to build its own semiconductor industry.²⁷ This was also thought to dovetail with the plan by China's top economic agency, announced that same month, to quintuple the value of semiconductor purchases from the United States to \$200 billion over six years.²⁸ Although this was scaled down later to only doubling chip purchases, China's National Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) lobbied American semiconductor firms through the Semiconductor Industry Association (SIA) while the U.S. Department of Commerce considered implementing the deal. However, the deal never came to fruition, for two key reasons.

First, American firms rejected overtures from the NDRC to supply more semiconductors to China because this would have required a recalibration of their supply chains. This is because semiconductors count as exports to countries where they are assembled, which here refers to the process after fabrication where they are packaged in a container that follows a printed circuit board, appearing in a grid pattern.²⁹ This usually takes place in countries like Malaysia or Mexico before semiconductors are shipped to other countries like China to be sold as finished products.³⁰ In other words, the semiconductor sales proposed by the NDRC showing up as exports to China would have required relocating assembly, testing, marking, and packaging (ATMP) operations to the country. American firms did not consider this feasible since it would have meant substantial costs without generating additional revenue. The SIA members would have been able to service demand from China with supply chains being located where they currently were. As Sanjay Mehrotra, the CEO of Micron Technology, told then U.S. trade representative Robert Lighthizer, the industry wanted sales based on organic demand and not mere sales to the NDRC to prop up the market.³¹

Second, the SIA members were also against relocating ATMP operations to China as this would make them more dependent on the country, which could decide to cut off supplies in an emergency. U.S. semiconductor firms strongly wanted to prevent the creation of a chokepoint in the supply chain.

Besides the ban on sales to ZTE, there were other signs that the trade war was turning into a full-blown technological war. In May 2018, Lighthizer announced that tariffs, investment restrictions, and export regulations would be important to "protect our technology," and the abovementioned administration statement from the same month reiterated this message. In June, upon levying a 25 percent tariff on \$50 billion of Chinese goods, Lighthizer said: "China's government is aggressively working to undermine America's high-tech industries and our economic leadership through unfair trade practices and industrial policies like 'Made in China 2025'."³²

If there were any lingering doubts as to whether the Trump administration would use export controls on high-tech items such as semiconductors, these were laid to rest when the Department of Commerce placed Huawei on its Restricted Entity List in May 2019. Getting caught in the geopolitical battle between China and the United States severely affected the company's commercial prospects. The lack of access to advanced U.S. semiconductors crippled its ability to power 5G base stations and cloud computing services as well as its research and development (R&D) activities.³³ As a result, Huawei reportedly laid off 70 percent of its R&D staff in Silicon Valley.³⁴ The ban firmly placed technology center stage in the trade war.

Traditionally, China had recruited American businesses as allies whenever it faced pressure from U.S. administrations to address trade practices or human rights concerns.³⁵ The calculation was that businesses needed China's market to grow and would not want to lose access. However, things were different this time, with American businesses no longer responding to Beijing's attempts to court them, something that China's leaders appeared to be ignorant of. Former treasury secretary Henry Paulson commented on American businesses turning from cheerleaders to critics of China, saying: "How can it be that those who know China best, work there, do business there, make money there, and have advocated for productive relations in the past, are among those now arguing for more confrontation?"³⁶

American firms had come to believe that, after decades of dialogue, China's government was still complicit in helping Chinese firms commit intellectual property (IP) theft. But it was Beijing's heavy promotion of domestic firms that really pushed American businesses over the edge. China's Made in China (MIC) 2025 plan, unveiled in 2015, had laid out a roadmap to promote "indigenous innovation" and to reduce reliance on foreign technology. At first glance, it was like any other industrial policy. However, what antagonized American firms was its specific objectives. MIC 2025 targeted 70 percent market share for several sectors by 2025. Foreign firms figured that this might involve a massive increase in subsidies and IP theft.³⁷ In the United States, and in Europe, it was believed that MIC 2025 had crossed a line with its massive state funding of public research institutions to implement its objectives.³⁸ For American companies, the plan was a confirmation of their worst fears that earlier sporadic or one-off unfair trade practices would become the norm in certain sectors.

Rather than assess why the MIC 2025 plan was vehemently criticized in the United States, China doubled down on its strategy of courting or threatening American businesses, calculating that these firms would lobby lawmakers to ease the pressure on the country.³⁹ But the shift in the perception of China was broad-based and reflected attitudes across various segments of the American establishment. While the security establishment was seen as keener for a decoupling of the U.S. and Chinese economies,⁴⁰ other constituencies—such as the usually pro-China business community and the pro-trade officials in the White House⁴¹—had also had a change of heart. The Trump White House believed that "strategic engagement" had outlived its usefulness,⁴² and trade officials like Lighthizer also believed that the United States should "stop being so passive."⁴³ Lighthizer said: "We should not assume that aggressive action on our part would automatically make the situation worse."⁴⁴

Fragmentation by Default vs. Decoupling by Design

Going by the National Security Strategies from the Ronald Reagan administration to the Barack Obama administration, the United States had not before seen semiconductor supply chains as an issue of national security. While supply chains in general were accorded significance in the 1980s and early 1990s, that was in the context of ensuring that raw-material inputs in certain industries—such as stealth technology, anti-satellite systems, precision-guided munitions, and computer and software technology⁴⁵—were stockpiled. Supply chains only became relevant again during the Trump administration.

The relative absence of mentions of semiconductor supply in successive National Security Strategies coincided with a period during which a large number of American manufacturing jobs were offshored to countries such as Japan, South Korea, and Taiwan. This happening in the absence of a national strategy to maintain an edge in semiconductor manufacturing could be called "fragmentation by default." Semiconductor supply chains were becoming increasingly globalized.

The globalization of semiconductor supply chains happened due to the ever-increasing costs for integrated device manufacturers (IDMs) to undertake the designing and the fabrication of chips. The outsourcing of fabrication activities was all the more appealing due to the business model pioneered by Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company (TSMC). This new business model reflected the understanding that the prohibitive costs of doing everything would lead some IDMs to outsource chip fabrication to more cost-effective foundries. Other IDMs took note and increasingly offshored their fabrication to Taiwan

and other East Asian countries like South Korea.⁴⁶ This also coincided with the rise and spread of the idea of the globally integrated enterprise, which saw companies like Texas Instruments and IBM relocate their supply chains to East Asian countries like Japan in order to be close to semiconductor supply chains for accessing new components that were critical to their businesses.⁴⁷ Delayed access had severe commercial implications in the fast-moving consumer electronics market.⁴⁸

Globalization had a lot going for it in the late 1980s and 1990s. The disintegration of the Soviet Union meant that Russia and various Eastern European nations were seen as "emerging economies." China was in the midst of a lengthy market-oriented reform process. And the spread of the internet meant that it was more feasible to coordinate complex supply-chain activities across geographies and time zones.⁴⁹ Therefore, a fundamental feature of globalization was the dispersion of supply chains to countries where it was most profitable to carry out activities.⁵⁰

However, the globally integrated enterprise was largely a response to the political and economic forces⁵¹ that at the time were devoid of economic nationalism.⁵² More recently, though, disenchantment with business and political elites, amid halting global economic growth, has led to a resurgence of economic nationalism.⁵³ The central feature of this has been a renewed focus on secure and resilient supply chains, especially for semiconductors.

It is hard to pinpoint the exact moment when this drive for self-reliance became the focus of most countries' industrial policies. While the renewed emphasis put by the United States on semiconductors appears to have started with the institution of export controls on materials used for making them, China's shift in focus from consumer internet firms to more hard-tech companies was more abrupt and, therefore, more apparent. Both countries have started competing in a new race to be the central creator and purveyor of superior technologies, including semiconductors. While the measures to enhance the competitiveness of the American semiconductor industry, such as the Chips and Science Act of 2022, are recent, Intel and TSMC had earlier agreed to set up fab/foundries in Arizona.⁵⁴ China, for its part, has recently designed three industrial policies to pursue advanced semiconductor manufacturing: the Guidelines to Promote a National Integrated Circuit Industry, the MIC 2025 policy, and the Made in China 2025 Technical Area Roadmap.

China's leadership realized that the consumer internet economy, or the platform economy, which had served the country so well as the engine of growth after the 2008 global financial crisis, had run its course and that it was time to focus on areas where key technological breakthroughs would be needed. Then Chinese premier Li Keqiang in March 2021 identified semiconductors as a major priority area for hard-tech innovation.⁵⁵ This, along with the enforcement actions against the likes of Alibaba and Tencent in 2020 and 2021, was a massive transformation of China's approach.⁵⁶ In 2017, eight ministries issued a joint opinion to promote the "sharing economy." A light-touch approach to regulation ensued till 2020, when China's leadership suddenly changed track.⁵⁷ This newfound focus on hard-tech does not appear to be a transitory phase. Data also bears out the concerns of Chinese policymakers. An often overlooked fact is that Huawei's total R&D expenditure in 2018 was more than that of Alibaba, Tencent, and Baidu combined.⁵⁸ The story is not very different for American firms. According to one study, even though total private R&D investment climbed from 0.7 percent of GDP in 1956 to 2.0 percent in 2014, most of that was for product development with only 20 percent of the R&D going to basic scientific research.⁵⁹ The brittleness of American supply chains has conveyed the message to the U.S. government that it will have to provide guidance for self-sufficiency in a way that the private sector has not been able to do. State intervention may be required, which may not be a bad thing for a country where the government incubated the chip industry in the first place. The obsession of American enterprises with efficiency and just-in-time supply chains may have been exposed as a mistake when it comes to critical technologies like advanced semiconductors. China, on the other hand, has traditionally placed greater emphasis on resilience as opposed to efficiency.⁶⁰

When one looks at the global shift toward securing supply chains in critical technologies, along with the recent dip in global trade flows largely due to the U.S.-China trade war,⁶¹ and the export-control measures cited above, what are we likely to see next? Recent decisions, some dating from the Obama administration, show that there has been a conscious decision to restore the United States' advanced semiconductor manufacturing capabilities, which had substantially withered during the era of "fragmentation by default." Given that semiconductor manufacturing capabilities have been set up in East Asia for decades, this will very likely disrupt the global supply chain. This time, the decoupling will be by design and not by default.

Possible Consequences of Export-Control Measures

The Geopolitics of Export-Control Measures

U.S administrations appear to have recognized that semiconductors were a strategic technology that needed to be protected prior to the 2019 export-control measures. The Obama administration thwarted attempts by Chinese firms to acquire American semiconductor companies. In 2016, Commerce Secretary Penny Pritzker labeled China's MIC 2025 plan as "designed to appropriate" the semiconductor industry.⁶² She also claimed that China's industrial policy was governed by government interests rather than commercial objectives.⁶³ However, the Obama administration dismissed export controls for semiconductor items because it expected such "unilateral action" to be "increasingly ineffective in a world where the semiconductor industry is globalized."⁶⁴

At the end of the Trump administration's first year, export-control measures appeared to have fused into a larger policy aimed at a new way to engage with China. Three new strategic documents set out a more aggressive approach. The December 2017 National Security Strategy labeled China a "revisionist power."⁶⁵ The January 2018 National Defense Strategy identified "long-term strategic competition with China" as a "principal priority."⁶⁶ The January 2018 report of the U.S. trade representative to Congress on whether China had complied with the terms of its accession to the World Trade Organization (WTO) acknowl-edged that the "United States' approach to China is more aggressive than in the past."⁶⁷

A key tool the United States has used to push this new approach is the Foreign Direct Product Rule (FDPR). This extends the jurisdictional reach of the Export Administration Regulations. The FDPR effectively regulates not only American items but also foreign ones as long as they are made using certain American technology and software. Companies that use key American technology to manufacture chips are thus required to apply for a license from the Department of Commerce, which faces a presumption of denial, before shipping any products made with this technology to any Chinese firms blacklisted by the department.

China experts had judged that there was a possibility the Biden administration would extend the FDPR rule to more, if not all, Chinese entities, and not just restrict it to Huawei and a few others.⁶⁸ A few members of Congress advocated this in 2021.⁶⁹ Still, the administration's swiftness in October 2022 in extending the FDPR to "Chinese buyers" and expanding its scope was unexpected.

That was the time when the Biden administration unveiled sweeping changes to its policy on export controls on semiconductors, among other items. A big reason for this is China's "civil-military fusion" strategy, which is predicated on the usage of private-sector technology for military and on commercial spin-offs of defense-related technology.⁷⁰ This fusion has made it harder for export controls to target China's military without affecting its commercial sector. With its new export-control measures, the United States has given up "trying to thread the needle" in this regard.⁷¹ From now on, applications for export licenses to China for AI chips (including those for commercial use) above a certain performance threshold face a presumption of denial from the Department of Commerce. Outsourcing any manufacturing of AI chips to Chinese entities is prohibited.⁷² Considering that some companies in China, such as Semiconductor Manufacturing International Corporation (SMIC) and Yangtze Memory Technologies Corp (YMTC) are already making such chips, the blocking of access to American software tools and semiconductor manufacturing equipment reveals a new pillar of U.S. strategy: it is no longer sufficient to keep China's semiconductor industry stagnating a generation or two behind that of the United States; rather, the United States will try to ensure that China's industry regresses.

Although the measures dealt with advanced AI chips with supercomputing applications, these were not categorized as "emerging and foundational technology" in the BIS document published in October 2022. Classifying them as such would have rendered it necessary for the BIS to issue an advance notice of proposed rulemaking and to seek public comments. Perhaps to sidestep this requirement and to prevent Chinese entities stockpiling such chips in China, the measures were declared applicable with almost immediate effect.

In summary, the October 2022 export-control measures:

- expand the applicability of these measures to all entities in China, not just those already on the BIS Restricted Entity List;
- are applicable with immediate effect to prevent stockpiling;
- are applicable to U.S. persons related to provision of items even when they cannot determine the precise end use of the items, in an attempt to curb civil-military fusion; and
- are unilateral.

There may be a further expansion of the FDPR rule down the road. The language used by the BIS so far in relation to Chinese entities such as SMIC specifies that the export of items that are "uniquely required to produce semiconductors at advanced technology nodes 10 nanometers or below will be subjected to a presumption of denial."⁷³ In early 2022, there was discussion within the Biden administration about a Department of Defense proposal to change the language from "uniquely required" to "capable of." The reasoning was that typically no semiconductor manufacturing equipment is designed specifically to produce a particular node. If such a change is accepted, it could subject a wider range of equipment to license denial.⁷⁴

The Impact of Export-Control Measures

The U.S. export controls, including the stricter updates introduced by the Biden administration, have been a game-changer in how semiconductor companies the world over view China and whether the Chinese market will remain a viable long-term source of revenues. In particular, they may have the following impact:

i. <u>Stoking China's modernization and indigenization efforts</u>: China did not envision having a completely independent semiconductor technology stack. This is evident from its request to the Trump administration in May 2018 to drop its investigation under Section 301 of the Trade Act of 1974 and to give better treatment to Chinese technology companies, in particular ZTE, which was banned from purchasing American computer chips.⁷⁵ Seen together with the June 2018 offer by Beijing

to address the trade deficit by purchasing more American semiconductors, it is clear that China was not attempting to wean itself off American technology.⁷⁶ The export-control measures have changed that. China's drive toward modernization and the development of indigenous technology has accelerated. It is now estimated that nineteen of the world's twenty fastest-growing chip firms are Chinese.⁷⁷ This has, perhaps for the first time, also aligned the interests of Chinese firms with those of the Chinese Communist Party⁷⁸ when it comes to the self-sufficiency agenda announced by President Xi Jinping on the occasion of the party's hundredth anniversary in 2021.79 China is also watching the sanctions that have been imposed against Russian entities and individuals in response to the invasion of Ukraine, even though these function more as an embargo, given the broad scope of their application. While self-sufficiency in a sector as complex as semiconductors may be a tall order, witnessing the full force of not just U.S. but EU sanctions against Russia may lead China to reinforce its efforts to integrate itself with a "non-U.S. supply chain."80 This may be the case even if China may not be as badly affected by sanctions, given that it is a major trading partner of 130 countries, including many U.S. allies.⁸¹

- ii. <u>China's modernization efforts will face a challenge</u>: The immediate impact of the export controls is the realization by China that its only option may be to build an indigenous semiconductor industry since it will not have access to cutting-edge machinery to fabricate leading-edge nodes. Funding should not be a worry given that its National Integrated Circuit Industry Investment Fund has so far raised \$51 billion.⁸² What makes things hard for China is the fact that the semiconductor industry is an iterative one that works best in a cluster. Companies in the semiconductor supply chain can share their infrastructure set-up, including R&D centers, talent pool, and manufacturing facilities. Many chip design firms prefer to be closer to chip fabrication facilities to enhance collaboration and iterate back and forth as much as possible to get the most out of the design process. Furthermore, having all major components of the supply chain in one place leads to shorter delivery times. Not being looped into this ecosystem would be challenging for China and hard to recreate.
- iii. Unintended consequences: The supply chain for semiconductors is extremely convoluted, and the semiconductors shortage reinforced the point that more needed to be done to monitor supply chain disruptions. The Biden administration created the Supply Chain Disruptions Task Force to map the supply chain and to improve its transparency. The Commerce Department sent out requests for information to various companies at different stages of the supply chain. With more than 150 responses received, this revealed was that there was a considerable lack of transparency in the supply chain, even for those intricately involved in it. It showed that "producers don't always have a clear sense of demand, and chip consumers don't always know where the chips they need originate."⁸³ Another way of looking at this is that the export-control measures proposed effectively to ban a large number of Chinese buyers from purchasing semiconductors or semiconductor manufacturing tools and

equipment. Given that China imports \$300 billion's worth of these, wiping out a substantial part of this sum could severely affect how global semiconductor firms operate and recoup their investments. Whether a sound cost-benefit analysis of these complexities has been undertaken remains unclear.

iv. <u>Decoupling</u>: While the term "decoupling" is generally used to cover the range of initiatives introduced by China and the United States to disentangle their economies and curb their dependence on each other,⁸⁴ here it is used with regard to semiconductors and the industries they impact, and to whether ending Chinese buyers' access to cutting-edge semiconductors and semiconductor manufacturing equipment could lead to a bifurcation between the tech ecosystems of China and the United States.

The shifting of supply chains is the first trend showing that a partial decoupling is underway. For instance, Samsung has announced that it will begin making semiconductor parts in Vietnam in July 2023 to diversify its manufacturing, given how China, the United States, and other nations are engaged in a race to secure their supply chains.⁸⁵ The Confederation of British Industry and Commerce has said that UK companies are "rethinking their supply chains" in a "world decoupled from China."⁸⁶

The second could be a domino effect on the supply chains for other products and items that are not related to semiconductors. There have been reports that Chinese entities have been wary of purchasing even products that are not on the U.S. export-control list since they fear a creeping expansion of the measures to other industries.⁸⁷ In fact, the trade war and the tech export-control measures appear to work jointly toward a decoupling. American firms have held back from purchases from China of items subjected to U.S. tariffs. On the other hand, Chinese suppliers who do not know what future U.S. export-control measures to expect may self-correct by withholding purchases of American items. Regarding the former, recent data bears this out.⁸⁸ As to the latter, in July 2022 China recorded its first trade surplus with South Korea in nearly three decades.⁸⁹ The U.S. export controls may have led China to source fewer high-tech components from South Korea.⁹⁰

Third, decoupling could also lead to a situation where American components are "designed out" of various products since many companies in the supply chain would not want to be subjected to constantly expanding U.S. export-control measures. A potential example could come from the Netherland's ASML Holding, the world's sole manufacturer of extreme ultraviolet (EUV) and deep ultraviolet (DUV) lithography machines, which are necessary to manufacture advanced chips. The United States has stalled the sale of the EUV machines to China⁹¹ and is attempting to extend this prohibition to the slightly older DUV ones.⁹²

This is significant since reliance on ASML's EUV machines is only expected to

deepen, due to the fact that each successive generation of chips has shrinking transistors that can only be packed onto a chip through, among other things, advances in lithography. The EUV machines comprise hundreds of thousands of components sourced from other suppliers. ASML produces only 15 percent of the EUV's components.⁹³ Among the suppliers for the rest is its subsidiary Cymer, which is located in the United States.⁹⁴ Considering the complexity of the EUV machines and the fact that it took nearly three decades to develop and commercialize them, Chinese buyers are very unlikely to be able to replace or replicate them in the short term. Reverse-engineering an EUV machine may not be a viable option since it is not a matter of merely accessing its blueprint and other technical data. The real asset of ASML is the technical know-how of the engineers who incorporate the thousands of components into an EUV machine. As argued by one observer, "the most crucial input into an EUV lithography system wasn't any individual component, but the company's own skill in supply chain management."⁹⁵

However, given the criticality of semiconductors to the foundational technologies of tomorrow such as AI and robotics, China is unlikely to allow the denial of access to ASML's machines to stall progress in developing its own EUV/DUV machinery. Given its massive market for semiconductors, China might get non-American technology companies in the supply chain to replace American components with their own parts or to source components from another country. Meanwhile, in comments submitted to the BIS in November 2020, ASML stated that any effort to classify EUV machines as foundational technology and to subject them to export controls should only be done after taking into account the effect this may have "on the economy and the development of such technologies in the United States."⁹⁶ Given the vast number of American firms that supply ASML for its EUV machines, an attempt to block the company from selling to Chinese buyers may result in it sourcing from non-U.S. suppliers.

All of the above shows that technological decoupling is a part of the larger decoupling between China and the United States. Beyond the export controls, given the change in outlook regarding U.S. policies when it comes to various issues (such as investment screening, discouraging acquisitions by American enterprises in China, financial sanctions on Chinese companies for supporting security operations in Xinjiang, encouraging U.S. allies to ban Huawei from 5G networks, and visa restrictions), any change in the decoupling narrative will require addressing the key reasons underlying the shift in U.S. attitudes toward China. As mentioned above, the MIC 2025 plan was a wake-up call for not just the U.S. government, but also multinational companies all over the world that saw it as China doubling down on the use of massive subsidies, IP theft, and favoring its state-owned enterprises (SOEs)—precisely the issues that were raised by the U.S. trade representative in its 2018 report to Congress on China's WTO compliance. The prospect of reversing the trade war will hinge on progress by China on the above issues. However, the reform picture for each of these issues does not look promising.

It is unlikely that China will end its subsidies. In fact, as mentioned, the export controls have reinvigorated its efforts to wean itself off American tech and it may direct more subsidies at critical technologies. Furthermore, since SOEs that receive many of these subsidies are national champions that have fueled the country's rise in many sectors, China is unlikely to change its playbook. For all their inefficiencies, SOEs have played a major role in spurring China's growth over decades and are unlikely to fall out of favor with the government. They are also a major mechanism through which "socialism with Chinese characteristics" is pursued.⁹⁷ Therefore, SOEs are likely to remain at the core of China's economic policies.

While China has made rapid strides in bolstering its overall competitiveness⁹⁸ and has shown that it can innovate,⁹⁹ its efforts to reduce IP theft are less impressive. There is still a high level of Chinese espionage, which is likely to continue, in part owing to the ambitious targets set forth in MIC 2025. Furthermore, China's industrial espionage system has reportedly developed into a "self-sustaining ecosystem" with many interest groups invested in seeing it succeed.¹⁰⁰

Finally, it does not look like China will change its state-led or "authoritarian" capitalism model soon. Defending MIC 2025, which provides a roadmap for higher domestic market share for Chinese enterprises, Beijing's response was that the plan did not violate any WTO rules since it is transparent, indicative rather than mandatory, and in principle open to participation by foreign enterprises.¹⁰¹

From the above, the U.S.-China trade war is unlikely to cease. Within it, technological decoupling has become a battle to maintain control over sets of technologies. This is likely to spill over into the realm of standard setting. Semiconductors are uniquely positioned in the larger technology architecture since they power many advanced 5G technologies and applications. Leadership in 5G will therefore decide the shape of semiconductors usage. This leadership will depend not just on the technology and its applications powered by semiconductors, but also on whether a nation is deeply integrated into other facets as well, including standard setting.¹⁰² Standards are especially significant from the perspective of the semiconductor industry, given the ever-increasing costs of manufacturing each new generation of chips. Economies of scale make chip manufacturing more cost-effective-mass production reduces the cost per unit for each semiconductor foundry. And mass production becomes easier if all components of chips are the same all over the world. Therefore, the question of whose standards will prevail is driving the next stage of the tech battle between China and the United States. Standards are also significant when it comes to the certification of chips. There are currently different efforts underway to ensure that common standards are developed for certifying the security, authenticity, and reliability of chips.¹⁰³

Standard-Developing Organizations— The Next Battleground?

At a time when almost all major countries are seeking to build self-sufficiency in their supply chains, an excessive focus on doing so risks leading to inward-looking supply chains that may not interact with each other, or to supply chains in which different bubbles do not "talk" to each other and are not interoperable. This could lead to technologies that cannot be integrated and cannot function together. Accordingly, if there are different product specifications and distinct components that are not interoperable, the process of standard setting may be impacted the most by the technological decoupling.

Not having components with the desired functionality due to reasons of non-interoperability would hurt all industries that rely on semiconductors, since making the average semiconductor takes around 700 steps, not all of which are taken in one jurisdiction.¹⁰⁴ One would have to rely on creating one's own components since imports would not be an option from countries with noncompatible products. This would amount to de facto import substitution, which has its drawbacks as well.

To have the best chance of framing international technical standards, countries need two ingredients: standard essential patents (SEPs) that are of a certain qualitative threshold and influence within international standard-setting organizations.

The focus here is on the latter since that usually involves a direct role for governments, whereas SEPs are usually created by companies. The United States' approach to standard setting has been relatively laissez faire compared to that of countries in East Asia and Europe,¹⁰⁵ with the private sector playing a more important role. However, this approach may turn out to be naïve in today's hypercompetitive world. In its 2015 U.S. Standards Strategy, the American National Standards Institute stated that what hung in the balance was "the competitiveness of U.S. industry, the vitality of the U.S. economy, a balanced global trading system, and the health, safety, and well-being of citizens."¹⁰⁶ Despite its private-sector-led approach, the United States maintains a very dominant presence in international standard-setting bodies, with a recent study estimating that it held at least 50 percent of voting share in eleven of the thirty-nine organizations evaluated.¹⁰⁷

China's approach, on the other hand, has been mostly state-driven. In the context of what some see as a neglect of international standard-setting organizations by the U.S. government, China has rushed in to fill the gap.¹⁰⁸ This focus is reflected in the saying in the country that "First class companies do standards, second-tier companies do technology, third-tier companies do products."¹⁰⁹ Beijing has also announced a China Standards 2035 initiative that seeks to wrest control of the process of setting international standards from Western nations.

Concerns about the Chinese approach to international standard setting have grown since there appears to be a tight relationship between the Chinese state and the Chinese companies that participate in standards development organizations (SDOs). This is exacerbated by simultaneous concerns about how nonstate businesses may also be influencing standards on behalf of China's government.¹¹⁰

However, observers of the standard-setting process point out that no amount of "stacking" of SDOs by a country can make up for a lack of technical credentials or market buy-in of the standard sought to be set.¹¹¹ Even if a country has a large population and a thriving ecosystem of technology companies, the government mandating certain standards locally and then hoping these will be adopted globally later does not usually work. For a start, the risk involved in adopting this path is immense. If its locally mandated standards are not adopted internationally, the country would be isolated from international norms and the trade that takes place in products that adhere to global standards. The scope for technical alienation is so high that any "local first, global later" plan may fail at start, a phenomenon called the Galapagos syndrome.

One example of this is a failed online authentication initiative of South Korea's government. The national Resident Registration Number (RRN), akin to the Social Security Number used in the United States, was used for accessing private and government services. The RRN was a unique identification number and was widely used for online identification. However, due to the possibility of data and privacy breach, the government proposed a new authentication system called the I-PIN (Internet Personal Identification Number). This was authenticated through measures like passwords complemented by CAPTCHA and installation of additional software to foil keylogging attempts. Following a severe data breach, the government mandated that the I-PIN should be renewed each year, in addition to requiring additional measures of authentication that posed great inconvenience to users. Due to the cumbersome process, the I-PIN initiative never really took off.¹¹²

This example shows that setting a standard through government fiat is insufficient and does not provide a significant first-mover advantage if the market does not consider it as commercially viable. Some even believe that the government-mandated initiative had a debilitating effect on the encryption industry in South Korea.¹¹³ And, even if the I-PIN initiative had gained acceptance locally, getting acceptance as a global standard would have been far more challenging.

Experts have argued that China's strategy may not work smoothly since increasing its weight in standard-setting bodies is not enough to ensure a corresponding increase in the ability to sets global standards as these have to be approved by governments, companies, and engineers around the world.¹¹⁴ However, this argument is reminiscent of an earlier assumption about China and the internet, which proved to be incorrect. The argument was once made that the internet would be a force for good and could not possibly be controlled or regulated by

China. The analogy employed was that cracking down on the internet would be "like trying to nail Jell-O to the wall," in former president Bill Clinton's words.¹¹⁵ However, China has since had moderate success in instituting its Great Firewall, which has largely controlled or censored online conversations.¹¹⁶

China usually tries to benefit from the multilateral nature of institutions. Rather than act as a disruptor that completely disregards global cooperation and norms, it has used the current system to its advantage and acted as a "selective revisionist" power.¹¹⁷ It prefers to work within existing international institutions rather than outside them, although it also aims to complement them with institutions in which it would have a greater say. The WTO and the World Bank have served China well in its ascension as a major economic power.¹¹⁸ The country has shown no signs of abandoning institutions such as the UN, the World Health Organization, and the International Telecommunication Union (ITU); rather, it has sought to take key leadership roles in them.¹¹⁹ Although China has set up institutions such as the National Development Bank and the Asian Infrastructure Investment Bank, these are largely supplementary initiatives and not meant to supplant global institutions such as the World Bank. Thus, China will not abandon international SDOs as it seeks dominance in setting global technological standards.

At the same time, China may seek to complement this approach with other measures in its standard-setting endeavors. This is where getting market buy-in may not be critical for it. For instance, the Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) is not just a massive infrastructure project but also another avenue to set standards.¹²⁰ While this principally concerns investment norms, the BRI also contains the imposition of technological standards. When Chinese firms like Huawei carry out telecommunication and infrastructure projects in BRI countries, they use Chinese standards. Through this China can set standards around the world. Once a critical mass of nations adopts standards, network effects may lead technology companies to decide to manufacture more products with Chinese standards as these would already have buy-in from users in various countries. Therefore, even without having the ones most broadly accepted or considered most viable at SDOs, China could still set standards. This would not be unprecedented. In the 1980s, while American companies were trying to position their cellular phone technology as the de facto standard by having an enormous domestic base of users, European companies came together to advance a single standard for digital cellular phones. The latter focused on securing a higher number of users worldwide and won the battle for setting the standard.¹²¹

Therefore, though China has had its fair share of technologies afflicted by the Galapagos syndrome,¹²² its recent gambit at setting international standards might pay off. If all enterprises and users across a region use the same standard, this will create lock-in effects. As noted above, setting standards is as much about geopolitical aims as identifying the best technical standard.

Bloc by Bloc: Where Do India and Others Stand?

With a decoupling between China and the United States underway, there is a question as to where others will fit in. The answer is of increasing relevance to semiconductor companies that are situated at different stages of the supply chain in various parts of the world.

Some have argued that any alternative vision to the collaboration witnessed in the previous decades would probably be a world where a lack of international exchange leads to reduced innovation. It is said that this is the real threat that a U.S.-China decoupling presents to the global innovation ecosystem.¹²³

This can be rebutted, however, on three grounds. First, this view assumes that innovation is contingent on global collaboration. Second, a corollary of this view is that fragmentation of tech ecosystems may lead to stagnation of innovation throughout the world. Third, the state of innovation may not be a priority for most nations, which might be willing to make a tradeoff in favor of secure, trusted supply chains as opposed to current ones where chokepoints are controlled by adversaries. As it is, even though globalization components are sourced from all over the world, the technology to build semiconductors has not diffused.¹²⁴ It is still handled, controlled, and perhaps even dominated by a few companies.¹²⁵ These three points, elaborated below, show how concerns about technological decoupling possibly blunting innovation may not be justified. In that case, nations will be less concerned about technological decoupling and may be more interested in leveraging it in deciding which tech bloc to align themselves with.

First, governments the world over use various means to promote innovation. These include trade policy and international connectedness, and policies that focus on property rights, education, R&D subsidies, and proliferating research universities. However, there is no one policy that determines whether innovation will thrive in a country—the country must perform well in each one.¹²⁶ Similarly, the relative weight attributed to a factor like trade policy is the weakest among all those means. Thus, for example, while the United States had strong antitrust enforcement, smaller firms, and a more open economy, the insular Soviet Union out-innovated it in cutting-edge areas like space technology for a while, and Japan innovated rapidly despite having "tight government control over trade and investment, cooperative industry-labor relations, and specific corporate management techniques."¹²⁷ Therefore, it cannot be said with certainty that global collaboration is a singular factor promoting innovation.

Second, fragmentation of tech ecosystems does not always lead to stagnation in innovation, as the case of China's space sector shows. In 2011, the U.S. Congress passed a law—known as the Wolf Amendment—prohibiting cooperation between the National Aeronautics and Space Administration and China's space program, on grounds of human rights violations by China. However, the consensus, including among many in the United States, is that the Wolf Amendment has hastened space-tech innovation in China and has been of limited utility in persuading U.S. allies to curb their space cooperation activities with the country.¹²⁸ In 2021, the vice chief of space operations for the U.S. Space Force stated that China was developing its space capabilities at twice the rate of the United States.¹²⁹

Third, even though there is a view that the prospect of a shortage of semiconductors may be overblown,¹³⁰ countries have woken up to the fact that chokepoints in supply chains constitute a pressing concern. Accordingly, resilient supply chains are now seen as just as important as efficient ones.

Owing to these three reasons, technological decoupling may be here to stay for the foreseeable future. In such a scenario, others could align themselves with China or the United States, or they could try to remain in a neutral position. Their choice is likely to be determined by a mix of factors:

- The financial cost of adopting U.S. or Chinese tech infrastructure, with the choice of a 5G vendor likely to be a good indicator
- The trust in such tech infrastructure
- Which bloc will deliver more benefits in terms of development priorities
- Congruence or incongruence on "values"

The actors assessed in Table 1 represent critical nodes of the semiconductor global supply chain. The EU is the sole purveyor of EUV machines and houses cutting-edge design capabilities for chips. Japan is reviving its efforts to pursue cutting-edge semiconductor manufacturing, having been a powerhouse in this field in the 1980s.¹³¹ It is also increasingly becoming a base for supplying advanced semiconductor manufacturing materials such as silicon wafers and chemicals, with a global market share estimated at 60 percent.¹³² South Korea—the base for Samsung, one of the few integrated device manufacturers still competing vigorously in the international market—is one of the nerve centers of semiconductor manufacturing, and the collective decisions of its companies will have a vital bearing on the debate over China-centric or U.S.-centric supply chains. Indonesia, a major car-manufacturing itself to take advantage of the semiconductor supply chain movement out of China.¹³³

Table 1. Where do key regions stand on different aspects of semiconductortechnology?

	Cost	Trust/Security	Development	Values
EU	The total cost of deployment of 5G networks across the EU is estimated at €400 billion. However, the EU has recognized that, while restricting participation by "a key vendor" may increase 5G infrastructure costs, replacing and upgrading "high-risk" Chinese vendors may entail higher costs.	The European Parliament has noted that Chinese technology is widely believed to be plagued by cybersecurity issues. ¹³⁴ China's 2017 National Intelligence Law has not helped that perception, ¹³⁵ with its Article 7 compelling all Chinese enterprises to assist the state in national security work. ¹³⁶	While the EU is more aligned with the United States, it does envision its own technological stack. European Commissioner for Internal Market Thierry Breton has said that the EU must act more like a "strategist" than a market. It should make its choices and draw up its rules, and it should not be afraid of imposing them on its partners. ¹³⁷ European Commission President Ursula von der Leyen has said that Europe "must have mastery and ownership of key technologies." ¹³⁸	The European Court of Auditors has found that, compared with 5G vendors from other countries, Huawei and ZTE fared poorly, owing to the fact that China scored low on factors such as recourse to the rule of law, judicial independence, and adequacy of data- protection regime. ¹³⁹ The March 2019 communication of the European Commission to the European Council stated: "There is a growing appreciation in Europe that the balance of challenges and opportunities presented by China has shifted." ¹⁴⁰ It also labeled China as "an economic competitor in the pursuit of technological leadership, and
				a systemic rival promoting alternative models of governance."
Japan	The top two Japanese mobile carriers are expected to spend around \$38 billion on 5G networks in the 2020s. ¹⁴¹ The tensions between China and the United States present an opportunity to Japanese firms such as NEC and Fujitsu to enter the fray as well, even though their collective market share is minimal. ¹⁴²	Japan has committed to participating in the U.Sled Clean Network Initiative, which aims to procure telecommunication equipment only from trusted vendors. ¹⁴³	NEC and Fujitsu are collaborating on the Open RAN model, which is distinct from the current model used by Huawei where only one company provides hardware and software for 5G networks. The U.S. government has played a critical role in ensuring that Japanese firms are part of the Open RAN coalition. ¹⁴⁴	As a treaty ally of the United States and a member of the Quad grouping, Japan will almost certainly not align itself with the values espoused by China.

	Cost	Trust/Security	Development	Values
South Korea	Since Samsung is a major player in the semiconductor industry, South Korea will likely look to source tech locally. However, extricating itself completely from China would have an impact. China still accounts for approximately \$60 billion worth of South Korean semiconductor demand. ¹⁴⁵ Foregoing this and making up for it in the short term would be a challenge with financial implications.	During President Joe Biden's visit to South Korea in May 2022, his first stop was to a Samsung electronics plant. During the visit, South Korea and the United States released a joint statement stressing not just working together in semiconductors but also considering alignment of their export- control mechanisms related to such critical technologies. ¹⁴⁶	South Korea has traditionally viewed the United States as a security provider and benefactor. This is unlikely to change anytime soon. ¹⁴⁷ The merging of national security concerns and semiconductor supply chains further complicates things for South Korea.	South Korea walks a strategic tightrope in balancing its relations with China and the United States. However, its cooperation with the United States has been undergirded by common values. South Korea has joined the Chip 4 Alliance, a U.S guided semiconductor- focused alliance in East Asia that seeks to coordinate policies in this field. While South Korea is keen not to be seen as picking sides, ¹⁴⁸ it has so far committed to partnering with the United States in semiconductor supply chains.
Indonesia	China's advantage appears to be two- fold with regard to Indonesia. First, its telecom equipment is cheaper. Second, since 2007 Chinese state- owned banks have provided up to \$600 million in financial assistance to Indonesian buyers, which may have been used to finance the purchase of Huawei's products. ¹⁴⁹	Indonesia's view is that using Chinese equipment would not necessarily compromise its cybersecurity in a unique way since most vendors—whether from Japan, South Korea, or other U.S. allies—present an espionage risk. ¹⁵⁰	Chinese companies such as ZTE and Huawei know that Indonesia places a high priority on its digital development, given how in 2018 the World Bank found that it could face a shortage of approximately 9 million ICT workers by 2030. Chinese tech companies have thus launched capacity-building programs for Indonesian engineers and train government officials in cybersecurity.	While Indonesians' trust in China has fallen sharply, ¹⁵¹ Chinese tech companies are seen as more cost-effective and better contributors to national development, which means that "values" are unlikely to play a major role when it comes to aligning with any tech bloc.

Where Is India Likely to Position Itself?

Regarding China, India has adopted a series of measures in the wake of the Galwan valley border skirmish between the two countries in May 2020. These have arguably reversed the impressive inroads that Chinese manufacturers had made into India's electronics market over the years.¹⁵² For the first time, India has linked the resolution of its long-standing border dispute with China with progress on other aspects of its relationship with the country.¹⁵³ This has come at the expense of commercial ties. In April 2020, India had already unveiled measures aimed at "curbing opportunistic acquisitions of Indian companies" by entities belonging to a country that it shares a land border with.¹⁵⁴ In June 2020, it moved quickly to ban scores of Chinese apps.¹⁵⁵ In May 2021, India announced that it had cleared its mobile carriers to carry out 5G trials using equipment from companies such as Ericsson, Nokia, and Samsung, with Huawei a notable omission. India explained that it had excluded the Chinese company because of its inability to comply with the security directive for supply of network equipment.¹⁵⁶ India abandoned any ambiguity regarding its stance on using Chinese network equipment and, by extension, its view of Chinese technology.

India, for now, seems keen to hedge its bets and to adopt an approach that favors multiple partnerships. Its external affairs minister has stated that the changing U.S.-China dynamic, will provide opportunities to be exploited in a manner that advance India's national interests.¹⁵⁷ However, he added that India would "grow with others, not separately," and that this would require partnerships with nations that have similar "values," which would matter "even more so in a technology-driven world."¹⁵⁸ Given these statements and the recent measures aimed at Chinese companies, India seems to be more open to aligning with a U.S.-led bloc, which would be reflected in where it stands in discussion on the semiconductor global supply chain.

Overall, India's semiconductor policy is seen by the press as a bold bet on entering the global value chain at various levels of the supply chain,¹⁵⁹ be it manufacturing, chip design, or assembly and packaging. The fact that the government amended its semiconductor policy in October 2022 to streamline the amount of subsidy given to manufacturing of mature nodes and to align it with the subsidy given to more leading-edge nodes shows quick iteration and a desire to listen to stakeholders in the ecosystem. That said, India could do some things in the short term to enhance the effectiveness of its semiconductor policies:

Financing: Currently, only a disbursal of the committed amount by the Indian Semiconductor Mission (ISM), the nodal agency for screening investments in the semiconductor sector, will be undertaken. The amount will be released based on the terms of approval by the ISM. However, there is no provision for loan guarantees, which are usually seen as having a multiplier effect in terms of allowing the debtor to raise more money. These could be considered.

<u>Reimbursement basis financing</u>: Currently, in the Design-Linked Incentive (DLI) scheme, it appears that the companies will receive the amount only on a reimbursement basis. This means that no upfront money will be given to startups. The amount will only be reimbursed based on achieving certain milestones. There is no provision for claw-back.

<u>Spin-offs not mentioned in any scheme</u>: In order to make it easier for the DLI scheme to be self-sufficient in terms of financing, there should be a provision for the Center for Development of Advanced Computing, its nodal agency, to acquire equity in the recipient company. The Industrial Technology Research Institute in Taiwan did this during the time it incubated TSMC and other semiconductor companies.

What happens when the 15 crore rupees (\$2 million) committed dries up? Venture capital funds need to be able to see that the technology in question is ready to be commercialized. It is unclear whether they will step in to do so once government funding dries up. Sometimes, the cost of creating advanced chip designs is in excess of \$100 million for a leading-edge chip.¹⁶⁰

<u>ISM expertise</u>: The ISM does not appear to be part of any interagency collaboration. It is housed under the Ministry of Electronics and Information Technology and does not have the same linkages with ministries enjoyed by the United States' CHIPS Program Office, which has connections with the departments of defense, state, and homeland security among others.

The Story So Far

India aspires to be a key player in the tech ecosystem in its own right, and it realizes that this will require "delivering at home" before it can "lead abroad."161 Developing its own tech stack would benefit India when taking into account the factors of cost, trust, development objectives, and values discussed above. India's recent attempts to incubate its own 5G network equipment ecosystem of domestic vendors is an example of it developing local capabilities first. In August 2018, the Telecom Regulatory Authority of India released recommendations to encourage domestic manufacturing of telecom equipment.¹⁶² While this was motivated more by the need to reduce costly imports, it incentivized major conglomerates like Reliance to start developing an indigenous 5G network management system.¹⁶³ India is no stranger to building tech products that may have global applications. It has an impressive roster of digital technologies that it has deployed in the field of digital payments and digital identities software, and which it is seeking to promote abroad. However, software is very different from hardware, such as semiconductors. Software products have fewer entry barriers and can pivot to new opportunities relatively easier because of their digital nature.¹⁶⁴ India remains a huge net importer of hardware technology.¹⁶⁵ This will continue as hardtech innovation usually takes a generation or two to come through and requires substantive changes in a country's science and technology research ecosystem.¹⁶⁶

India's best bet in the short term remains closer integration with nations possessing similar values that are also key players in the semiconductor supply chain. This has recently been labeled as "friend-shoring," a term that describes a select group of nations banding together and supposedly limiting "the trade of key inputs to trusted countries in order to reduce risks to the supply chains."¹⁶⁷ The concerns voiced about "friend-shoring" range from protection-ist lobbies using it to restrict competition to oligopolies emerging. However, these can be addressed by rules that regulate lobbying and antitrust laws. In addition, suggestions that using supply chains as they existed before the U.S.-China trade war will help create economic interdependencies among nations and thus lessen the prospect of war are misplaced.¹⁶⁸ For instance, China's thriving trade with Japan or with South Korea has a number of times been affected by national security clashes.

In the long term, India would likely seek a larger role in the semiconductor supply chain. This can be seen from its bets in other technological spheres, such as in 5G where it seeks to promote indigenous technologies and global standards. India did have success in proposing a local 5G standard, dubbed 5Gi, which was approved as a standard/technology specification by the ITU in November 2020.¹⁶⁹ 5Gi reportedly went through a thorough vetting process for over three years before being approved. Its unique selling point was that it substantially enhanced base station coverage without massive capital expenditure. However, there was significant opposition to 5Gi from certain telecom vendors and the Cellular Operators Association of India that argued India should seek to adopt global standards rather than standards yet to be harmonized with global ones. While this was rebutted by experts from institutions such as the Indian Institutes of Technology who argued that compatibility between the ITU-approved 5Gi and the 3GPP 5G standard is possible without compromising on interoperability, the 5Gi standard was eventually merged with the 3GPP 5G one as a compromise between the cellular industry and domestic standards organizations such as the Telecom Standards Development Society, India.

This disagreement between stakeholders delayed the 5G rollout in the country. The Lok Sabha's Standing Committee on Communications and Information Technology noted the concerns that there is a real danger that going alone in the standards process would risk scenarios where the country is stranded in terms of harmony with global standards.¹⁷⁰ The committee wrote:

Considering that similar efforts in the past by other countries like China, Korea, etc. have been failures due to the lack of harmonization of these standards with the global ecosystem, the Committee would want the Department to be extra careful before adopting such standards in the country. The Committee recommend that the Department should look into the concerns raised by [the Cellular Operators Association of India] and TSPs [telecom service providers] and ensure that their concerns are adequately addressed. While emphasizing that India should adopt the standards that are good for the country, the Committee also desire that the Department should also take into consideration the interests of all before taking the final decision and adopt standards that will be in the best interest of the country.

Therefore, while the 5Gi standard was technically sound and the result of a carefully reached deliberative process, it lacking an international presence was the most likely factor in it not being adopted. This highlights the need for India to dwell on a carefully thought-out strategy prior to pressing its case in international forums since, despite the ITU approving the 5Gi standard, it clearly did not have international buy-in, as well as from telecom services providers, and was yet to be harmonized with international standards.

Setting standards is key in the realm of semiconductors. India's significant presence in the design stage of the semiconductor value chain (albeit through subsidiaries of foreign firms at the moment) is at odds with the marginal role it plays in setting global standards. India's

tech is largely seen as being "clean" and does not seem to have any backdoors, a criticism often leveled at technology from China.¹⁷¹ This could help promote Indian tech internationally. The U.S. National Security Commission on Artificial Intelligence has highlighted that the United States could lead an emerging tech coalition of "like-minded countries" to push for standards in AI by following the model of the U.S.-India Strategic Tech Alliance.¹⁷²

The worsening of the technological war between China and the United States has spillover effects in standards setting. With both keen to promote their respective standards, others may become ensnared into choosing between a China-led bloc and U.S.-led one. India seems keen to hedge its bets and to focus on developing partnerships with a wide range of countries in the supply chain, while at the same time maintaining a strong focus on shoring up its capabilities in the semiconductor ecosystem.

Conclusion

The geopolitics of the semiconductor supply chain has undergone a rapid shift with the introduction of export-control measures by the United States. Semiconductors were not initially entangled with the larger issues driving the U.S.-China trade war. However, the U.S. Department of Commerce placing Huawei on its Restricted Entity List in 2019 meant that a new rationale grounded in maintaining its technological superiority was introduced by the United States. Given that U.S. export-control measures have been applied alongside tariffs introduced by China and the United States, a decoupling of their economies is underway. This decoupling has accelerated with other restrictions introduced by the Trump and Biden administrations regarding investment screening and visas.

Outcomes that may result from the export-control measures include a stoking of China's efforts to wean itself off U.S.-controlled chokepoints in the supply chain, a possible "de-signing-out" of American components in some semiconductor manufacturing equipment, and unintended consequences in the form of short-term costs being inflicted on American semiconductor companies.

Given the geopolitical nature of the U.S.-China battle to secure key chokepoints in the semiconductor supply chain, semiconductor companies will be looking to reconcile these different outcomes to ensure that their supply chains do not have to be significantly recalibrated. The provisions in the U.S. Chips and Science Act that permit the production of "mature" node semiconductors in China is a case in point. Semiconductor companies will also be evaluating coalitions of like-minded nations that may band together to ensure that a seamless supply chain can operate. In this regard, it will be interesting to see how India's efforts as a part of the Quad's Semiconductor Supply Chain Initiative, which is still short on details, will play out.

In the long term, India is likely to introduce policies that help attract some semiconductor manufacturing and design capabilities to the country, especially if the hollowing of China's semiconductor industrial base continues to take place. The U.S. export-control measures have, for the moment, gutted China's semiconductor industry, but that has only expedited Beijing's movement toward developing its indigenous technology infrastructure. How these efforts to shape semiconductor supply chains evolve will be one of the defining trends of the twenty-first century.

About the Author

Konark Bhandari is an associate fellow with Carnegie India, and a lawyer who has researched on certain areas in the digital economy, focusing primarily on approaches to antitrust regulation of companies in the digital realm. He had earlier worked at India's antitrust regulator—the Competition Commission of India (CCI)—where he worked closely with senior officials on a variety of matters. He is also an avid follower of the regulation of space technology ecosystem and is keen to contribute to that discipline.

Notes

- David Copeland, Economic Interdependence and War: A Theory of Trade Expectations, International Security, Volume 20, No. 4, (Spring 1996), <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/2539041</u>
- 2 Daniel Howley, "These 169 industries are being hit by the global chip shortage," Yahoo Finance, April 5, 2021, <u>https://finance.yahoo.com/news/these-industries-are-hit-hardest-by-the-global-chip-shortage-122854251.html.</u>
- 3 See Leo Kelion, "Factory blaze adds to computer chip supply crisis," March 22, 2021, <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-56486242</u>; Daniel Leussink, "Japan's factory output falls, hit by quake, chips shortage," March 31, 2021, <u>https://www.reuters.com/world/asia-pacific/japan-factory-output-falls-feb-worrying-sign-recovery-2021-03-31</u>/; and Emanuela Barbiroglio, No Water No Microchips: What is Happening in Taiwan," May 31, 2021, <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/emanuelabarbiroglio/2021/05/31/no-water-no-microchips-what-is-happening-in-taiwan/?sh=5e64e4c922af.</u>
- 4 Kif Leswing, "Intel says Moore's Law is still alive and well. Nvidia says it's ended," September 27, 2022, https://www.cnbc.com/2022/09/27/intel-says-moores-law-is-still-alive-nvidia-says-its-ended.html.
- 5 Kif Leswing, "Intel says Moore's Law is still alive and well. Nvidia says it's ended," September 27, 2022, https://www.cnbc.com/2022/09/27/intel-says-moores-law-is-still-alive-nvidia-says-its-ended.html.
- 6 Max A. Cherney, "The US plans to block sales of older chipmaking equipment tech to China," August 17, 2022, https://www.protocol.com/policy/biden-china-ban-chipmaking-finfet.
- 7 Nigel Inkster, *The Great Decoupling: China, America and the Struggle for Technological Supremacy*, Hurst and Publisher, 2020.
- 8 Anirudh Suri, The Great Tech Game: Shaping Geopolitics and Destinies of Nations, HarperCollins India, 2022.
- 9 Ben Thompson, "Mark Liu at TSIA, TSMC's \$ 100 billion, Economics versus Politics," Stratechery (blog) April 5, 2021, <u>https://stratechery.com/2021/mark-liu-at-tsia-tsmcs-100-billion-economics-versus-politics/</u>.
- 10 Daniel Leussink, "Japan's factory output falls, hit by quake, chips shortage," March 31, 2021, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-japan-economy-output-idUSKBN2BN014</u>.
- 11 Leo Kelion, "Factory blaze adds to computer chip supply crisis," March 22, 2021, <u>https://www.bbc.com/news/technology-56486242</u>.

- 12 Emanuela Barbiroglio, "No Water No Microchips: What is Happening in Taiwan," May 31, 2021, <u>https://www.forbes.com/sites/emanuelabarbiroglio/2021/05/31/</u> no-water-no-microchips-what-is-happening-in-taiwan/?sh=54ef5caf22af.
- 13 Jan-Peter Kleinhans and Nurzat Baisakova, "The Global Semiconductor Value Chain: A Technology Primer for Policy Makers," Stiftung Neue Verantwortung, p. 21, October 2020.
- 14 June Park, 'Weaponization of Supply Chains: The U.S.-China Race for Supremacy in AI in the Japan-South Korea Chip War," YouTube video, 27:43, posted by "June Park," October 13, 2021, last accessed June 19, 2023, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=qEKswPHsa94.
- 15 Scott Kennedy, Washington's China Policy Has Lost Its Wei, Center for Strategic and International Studies Policy Brief, July 2020.
- 16 Adam Segal, "Huawei, 5G, and Weaponized Interdependence," in *The Uses and Abuses of Weaponized Interdependence*, ed., Daniel W. Drezner, Henry Farrell, Abraham L. Newman, (Brookings Institution Press, 2021), 149–166.
- 17 "U.S. Export Controls," International Trade Administration, https://www.trade.gov/us-export-controls.
- 18 Bureau of Industry and Security, U.S. Department of Commerce, <u>https://www.bis.doc.gov/index.php/</u> all-articles/25-compliance-a-training/export-administration-regulations-training/1602-export-control-basics.
- 19 Kate O'Keeffe. "U.S. Approves Nearly All Tech Exports to China, Data Shows," *Wall Street Journal*, August 16, 2022, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/u-s-approves-nearly-all-tech-exports-to-china-data-shows-11660596886?st=85crkufds7pkkjp&reflink=share_mobilewebshare</u>
- 20 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 181.
- 21 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness, 2020).
- 22 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 174.
- 23 "Order Activating Suspended Denial Order Relating to Zhongxing Telecommunications Equipment Corporation and ZTE Kangxun Telecommunications Ltd.," United States Department of Commerce, Bureau of Industry and Security, <u>https://www.commerce.gov/sites/default/files/zte_denial_order.pdf</u>.
- 24 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness 2020), p. 30.
- 25 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness 2020).
- 26 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness 2020), p. 233.
- 27 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War*, (HarperBusiness, 2020), p. 321.
- 28 Lingling Wei, "China Seeks to Woo U.S. with Promise of Big Chip Purchases," Wall Street Journal, February 14, 2019, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/china-seeks-tolure-u-s-with-pledges-to-boost-chip-and-other-purchases-11550151263?ns=prod/ accounts-wsj.</u>
- 29 Chips for America: A Strategy for the Chips for America Fund, the U.S. Department of Commerce, September 6, 2022, p. 12.
- 30 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War*, (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 322.
- 31 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War*, (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 322-323.
- 32 USTR Issues Tariffs on Chinese Products in Response to Unfair Trade Practices, June 15, 2018, https://ustr.

gov/about-us/policy-offices/press-office/press-releases/2018/june/ustr-issues-tariffs-chinese-products

- 33 Nigel Inkster, The Great Decoupling: China, America and the Struggle for Technological Supremacy (Hurst and Publisher, 2020) p. 170.
- 34 Elizabeth Economy, The World According to China (Polity, 2021) p. 136.
- 35 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 31-32.
- 36 Remarks by Henry M. Paulson, Jr., on the United States and China at a Crossroads, November 7 2018, <u>https://www.paulsoninstitute.org/press_release/</u> remarks-by-henry-m-paulson-jr-on-the-united-states-and-china-at-a-crossroads/.
- 37 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 124.
- 38 Kevin Rudd, The Avoidable War: The Dangers of a Catastrophic Conflict between the U.S. and Xi Jinping's China (Public Affairs, 2022) p. 71.
- 39 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 31.
- 40 Michael Pillsbury, *The Hundred-Year Marathon: China's Secret Strategy to Replace America as the Global Superpower* (Macmillan US, 2019).
- 41 Shannon Van Sant, "Decoupling could hurt the U.S. more than China economist Yukon Huang," China Project, May 22, 2020, <u>https://thechinaproject.com/2020/05/22/</u> <u>decoupling-could-hurt-the-u-s-more-than-china-economist-yukon-huang/.</u>
- 42 Kevin Rudd, The Avoidable War: The Dangers of a Catastrophic Conflict between the U.S. and Xi Jinping's China (Public Affairs, 2022) p. 17.
- 43 Robert Lighthizer, Testimony before U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission: Evaluating China's Role in the World Trade Organization Over the Last Decade, June 9, 2010, <u>https://www.uscc.gov/sites/default/ files/6.9.10Lighthizer.pdf</u>.
- 44 Robert Lighthizer, Testimony before U.S.-China Economic and Security Review Commission: Evaluating China's Role in the World Trade Organization Over the Last Decade, June 9, 2010, <u>https://www.uscc.gov/sites/default/files/6.9.10Lighthizer.pdf.</u>
- 45 U.S. National Security Strategy 1987, p. 20,
- 46 Institute of Research and Labor Employment, Offshoring in the Semiconductor Industry: Historical Perspectives, IRLE Working Paper, #120-05, 2005. <u>https://irle.berkeley.edu/files/2005/Offshoring-in-the-Semiconductor-Industry.pdf</u>.
- 47 Steven Weber, *Bloc by Bloc: How to Build a Global Enterprise for the New Regional Order* (Harvard University Press, 2019) p. 41.
- 48 This logic also explains why a lot of high-tech industries, and the semiconductor industry in particular, are located in clusters.
- 49 Steven Weber, *Bloc by Bloc: How to Build a Global Enterprise for the New Regional Order* (Harvard University Press, 2019) p. 43.
- 50 Steven Weber, *Bloc by Bloc: How to Build a Global Enterprise for the New Regional Order* (Harvard University Press, 2019) p. 68.
- 51 Steven Weber, *Bloc by Bloc: How to Build a Global Enterprise for the New Regional Order* (Harvard University Press, 2019) p. 29.
- 52 Gideon Rachman, "Nationalism is Back," *Economist*, November 13, 2014, <u>https://www.economist.com/news/2014/11/13/nationalism-is-back</u>
- 53 Gideon Rachman, "Nationalism is Back," *Economist*, November 13, 2014, <u>https://www.economist.com/</u>

news/2014/11/13/nationalism-is-back

- 54 Yifan Yu, "Intel breaks ground on \$20bn Arizona chip plants in battle with TSMC," Nikkei, September 25, 2021, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Business/Tech/Semiconductors/</u> <u>Intel-breaks-ground-on-20bn-Arizona-chip-plants-in-battle-with-TSMC</u>
- 55 "China to Pour More Money into Chips, AI and 5G to Catch U.S.," Bloomberg, 8 March 2021, <u>https://www.bloombergquint.com/china/chinese-premier-calls-for-major-breakthroughs-in-core-tech</u>
- 56 Rita Liao, "China Fines Alibaba, Tencent's e-book subsidiary over antitrust violations," December 14, 2020, TechCrunch, <u>https://techcrunch.com/2020/12/13/china-literature-alibaba-fined/</u>
- 57 Angela Zhang, *Agility Over Stability: China's Great Reversal in Regulating the Platform Economy*, Harvard International Law Journal, Vol. 62 (2)(2022).
- 58 Nina Xiang, US-China Tech War: What Chinese Tech History Reveals About Future Tech Rivalry (University of Missouri, Kindle Edition.
- 59 Future of Tech Commission: A Blueprint for Action, 2022. https://www.futureoftechcommission.org
- 60 Dan Wang, "2021 letter," Dan Wang homepage, January 1, 2022, https://danwang.co/2021-letter/.
- 61 United Nations, World Economic Situation and Prospects, 2020 <u>https://www.un.org/development/desa/</u> <u>dpad/wp-content/uploads/sites/45/WESP2020_FullReport.pdf</u> p. 101.
- 62 David Lawder, U.S. Commerce chief warns against China semiconductor investment binge," November 3, 2016, Reuters, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/usa-china-trade-semiconductors-idUKL1N1D406T</u>.
- 63 David Lawder, U.S. Commerce chief warns against China semiconductor investment binge," November 3, 2016, Reuters, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/usa-china-trade-semiconductors-idUKL1N1D406T</u>.
- 64 President Council of Advisors on Science and Technology, "Report to the President Ensuring Long-Term U.S. Leadership in Semiconductors," January 2017, <u>https://obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/</u> <u>microsites/ostp/PCAST/pcast_ensuring_long-term_us_leadership_in_semiconductors.pdf</u> p. 14.
- 65 U.S. National Security Strategy, December 2017, <u>https://trumpwhitehouse.archives.gov/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/NSS-Final-12-18-2017-0905.pdf</u>.
- 66 Summary of the U.S. National Defense Strategy, 2018, <u>https://dod.defense.gov/Portals/1/Documents/pubs/2018-National-Defense-Strategy-Summary.pdf</u>.
- 67 U.S. Trade Representative, "2018 Report to Congress on China's WTO Compliance," February 2019, https://ustr.gov/sites/default/files/2018-USTR-Report-to-Congress-on-China%27s-WTO-Compliance.pdf
- 68 Paul Triolo, Transcript of interview by Kaiser Kuo, July 14, 2022, https://thechinaproject. com/2022/07/15/u-s-policy-on-china-tech-and-chips/.
- 69 Letter to U.S. Commerce Secretary Gina Raimondo from 17 Congress members on October 22, 2021. https://gop-foreignaffairs.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/CTF-Letter-to-Sec.-Raimondo-on-Export-Control-Actions.pdf.
- 70 Bradford Waldie, How Military-Civil Fusion Steps up China's Semiconductor Industry. <u>https://digichina.stanford.edu/work/how-military-civil-fusion-helps-chinas-semiconductor-industry-step-up/</u>.
- 71 Gregory C. Allen, Choking of China's Access to the Future of A.I., October 2022, CSIS. <u>https://www.csis.org/analysis/choking-chinas-access-future-ai</u>.
- 72 Certain Chinese firms on the BIS Entity List are specifically barred from outsourcing the manufacturing of any kind of chips, including advanced chips.
- 73 "Commerce Adds China's SMIC to the Entity List, Restricting Access to Key Enabling U.S. Technology, <u>https://2017-2021.commerce.gov/news/press-releases/2020/12/commerce-adds-chinas-smic-entity-list-restricting-access-key-enabling.html</u>.
- 74 Paul Triolo, "IISS Strategic Dossier, Asia-Pacific Regional Security Assessment, Chapter 7 Sino-American Technology Competition and the Asia-Pacific," June 2022, p. 162.
- 75 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New

Cold War (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 221.

- 76 After the Trump administration imposed more tariffs on imports from China in 2018, Beijing responded by imposing tariffs on \$4.6 billion's worth of U.S. goods. However, semiconductors from the United States were exempted from the Chinese tariffs. Also see Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 297.
- 77 Ma Si, "Mainland chipmakers among world top 10," June 28, 2022, China Daily, <u>http://global.chinadaily.</u> <u>com.cn/a/202206/28/WS62ba51d1a310fd2b29e68e8a.html</u>
- 78 Li Yuan, "ZTE's Near-Collapse May Be China's Sputnik Moment," New York Times, June 10, 2018, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/10/technology/china-technology-zte-sputnik-moment.html.</u>
- 79 "Full text of Xi Jinping's speech on the CP's 100th anniversary," <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Politics/</u> Full-text-of-Xi-Jinping-s-speech-on-the-CCP-s-100th-anniversary.
- 80 Chris Miller, Chip War: The Fight for the World's Most Critical Technology (Simon & Schuster UK, 2022) p. 323.
- 81 Noted China expert Graham Allison. See <u>https://www.thewirechina.com/2022/06/12/graham-allison-on-the-grandest-collision-of-all-time/</u> where he says that "the entanglement is thick now and it would be extremely difficult to do what we're doing to the Russians to the Chinese."
- 82 Cheng Leng and William Langley, "China hits Big Fund chip executives with corruption probes," *Financial Times*, August 11, 2022, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/1e3fe107-1b6e-43dd-8f04-e3c88502c36b</u>.
- 83 "Results from Semiconductor Supply Chain Request for Information," U.S. Department of Commerce, (blog), <u>https://www.commerce.gov/news/blog/2022/01/</u> results-semiconductor-supply-chain-request-information.
- 84 For a comprehensive overview of U.S.-China technological decoupling and the measures introduced by the United States, see Jon Bateman, "U.S.-China Technological 'Decoupling': A Strategy and Policy Framework," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, April 25, 2022, <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/2022/04/25/u.s.-china-technological-decoupling-strategy-and-policy-framework-pub-86897</u>.
- 85 Lien Hoang, "Samsung to begin making semiconductor parts in Vietnam in 2023," Nikkei, August 6, 2022, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Business/Tech/Semiconductors/</u> <u>Samsung-to-begin-making-semiconductor-parts-in-Vietnam-in-2023</u>.
- 86 Dexter Tiff Roberts, "Jeep shuts China factory as decoupling continues," China Project, August 5, 2022, https://thechinaproject.com/2022/08/05/jeep-shuts-china-factory-as-decoupling-continues/.
- 87 Bob Davis and Lingling Wei, *Superpower Showdown: How the Battle between Trump and Xi Threatens a New Cold War* (HarperBusiness, 2020) p. 244.
- 88 Chad P. Bown, "Four Years Into the Trade War, Are the U.S. and China Decoupling?," Peterson Institute for International Economics, October 20, 2022, <u>https://www.piie.com/blogs/realtime-economics/four-yearstrade-war-are-us-and-china-decoupling</u>. The datasets evaluated by PIIE show that U.S. imports of Chinese goods that faced a 25 percent duty were 22 percent below pre-trade war levels. On the other hand, American imports of those same products from the rest of the world were 34 percent higher.
- 89 Anna J. Park, "Korea runs trade deficit with China," *Korea Times*, July 3, 2022, <u>https://www.koreatimes.co.kr/www/biz/2022/07/602_332050.html</u>.
- 90 "South Korea drops to No. 2 spot in Chinese import market due to Taiwanese semiconductors," March 16, 2022, <u>https://english.hani.co.kr/arti/english_edition/e_business/1035087.html</u>.
- 91 Jillian Deutsch, Eric Martin, Ian King, and Debby Wu, "U.S. Wants Dutch Supplier to Stop Selling Chipmaking Gear to China," Bloomberg, July 5, 2022, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/</u> articles/2022-07-05/us-pushing-for-asml-to-stop-selling-key-chipmaking-gear-to-china.
- 92 Max A. Cherney, "The U.S. want to block more chipmaking tool sales to China," Protocol, July 5, 2022, https://www.protocol.com/bulletins/us-china-asml-euv.
- 93 Chris Miller, Chip War: The Fight for the World's Most Critical Technology (Simon & Schuster UK, 2022) p. 228.

- 94 Chris Miller, Chip War: The Fight for the World's Most Critical Technology (Simon & Schuster UK, 2022) p. 315.
- 95 Chris Miller, *Chip War: The Fight for the World's Most Critical Technology* (Simon & Schuster UK, 2022) p. 228.
- 96 Comments of ASML US LLC on Advance Notice Regarding the Identification and Review of Controls for Certain Foundational Technologies. See download at <u>https://www.google.com/url?sa=t&rct=j&q=&ces</u> <u>rc=s&source=web&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=2ahUKEwiqiv-r8tL6AhWN4TgGHfTQCYsQFnoECB</u> <u>EQAQ&url=https%3A%2F%2Fdownloads.regulations.gov%2FBIS-2020-0029-0049%2Fattachment 1.</u> <u>pdf&usg=AOvVaw0kuA0KcL4UcnvRB-7ofuls.</u>
- 97 Michael Pillsbury, The Hundred-Year Marathon: China's Secret Strategy to Replace America as the Global Superpower (Macmillan US, 2019) p. 173.
- 98 China was ranked 17th in the World Competitiveness Index of 2022.
- 99 Matt Sheehan, "The Chinese Way of Innovation," *Foreign Affairs*, April 21, 2022, <u>https://www.foreignaffairs.com/articles/china/2022-04-21/chinese-way-innovation.</u>
- 100 Nigel Inkster, *The Great Decoupling: China, America and the Struggle for Technological Supremacy* (Hurst and Publisher, 2020) p. 122.
- 101 Nigel Inkster, *The Great Decoupling: China, America and the Struggle for Technological Supremacy* (Hurst and Publisher, 2020) p. 197.
- 102 Anirudh Suri, The Great Tech Game: Shaping Geopolitics and Destinies of Nations (HarperCollins India, 2022) p. 167.
- 103 Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions – "An EU Strategy of Standardization – Setting global standards in support of a resilient, green and digital EU single market," COM (2022) 31.
- 104 Jeanne Whalen, "Three Months, 700 Steps: Why it takes so long to produce a computer chip," Washington Post, July 7, 2021, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/technology/2021/07/07/</u> making-semiconductors-is-hard/.
- 105 Julia Voo, State Influence and Technical Standards, Technology & Digital Governance.
- 106 "United States Standards Strategy," American National Standards Institute, 2015, <u>https://share.ansi.org/shared%20documents/Standards%20Activities/NSSC/USSS_Third_edition/ANSI_USSS_2015.pdf.</u>
- 107 Giulia Neaher, David Bray, Julian Mueller-Kaler, Benjamin Schatz, "Standardizing the Future: How Can the United States Navigate the Geopolitics of International Technology Standards," Atlantic Council, October 14, 2021, <u>https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/in-depth-research-reports/report/standardizing-the-future-howcan-the-united-states-navigate-the-geopolitics-of-international-technology-standards/.</u>
- 108 Anirudh Suri, The Great Tech Game: Shaping Geopolitics and Destinies of Nations (HarperCollins India, 2022) p. 236.
- 109 Rebecca Arcesati, Chinese tech standards put the screws on European companies, MERICS (Mercator Institute for China Studies), <u>https://merics.org/en/analysis/chinese-tech-standards-put-screws-european-companies</u>.
- 110 Giulia Neaher, David Bray, Julian Mueller-Kaler, Benjamin Schatz, "Standardizing the Future: How Can the United States Navigate the Geopolitics of International Technology Standards?," Atlantic Council, October 14, 2021, <u>https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/in-depth-research-reports/report/standardizing-the-future-howcan-the-united-states-navigate-the-geopolitics-of-international-technology-standards/.</u>
- 111 Giulia Neaher, David Bray, Julian Mueller-Kaler, Benjamin Schatz, "Standardizing the Future: How Can the United States Navigate the Geopolitics of International Technology Standards?," Atlantic Council, October 14, 2021, <u>https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/in-depth-research-reports/report/standardizing-the-future-howcan-the-united-states-navigate-the-geopolitics-of-international-technology-standards/.</u>
- 112 Jang Gyehun and Lim Jong-In, "Technologies of Trust: Online Authentication and Data Access Control on Korea," in "The Korean Way with Data: How the World's most wired country is forging a third way," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, August 2021, <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/files/202108-KoreanWayWithData_final5.pdf</u>.

- 113 Ibid.
- 114 Giulia Neaher, David Bray, Julian Mueller-Kaler, Benjamin Schatz, "Standardizing the Future: How Can the United States Navigate the Geopolitics of International Technology Standards?," Atlantic Council, October 14, 2021, <u>https://www.atlanticcouncil.org/in-depth-research-reports/report/standardizing-the-future-howcan-the-united-states-navigate-the-geopolitics-of-international-technology-standards/.</u>
- 115 Full text of former U.S. President Bill Clinton's speech, March 9, 2000, <u>https://www.nytimes.</u> <u>com/2000/03/09/world/clinton-s-words-on-china-trade-is-the-smart-thing.html</u>.
- 116 Bethany Allen-Ebrahimian, "The Man Who Nailed Jello to the Wall," Foreign Policy, June 29, 2016, <u>https://foreignpolicy.com/2016/06/29/</u> <u>the-man-who-nailed-jello-to-the-wall-lu-wei-china-internet-czar-learns-how-to-tame-the-web/</u>.
- 117 Interview with Evan Feigenbaum, by Kaiser Kuo, The China Project, March 9, 2022, <u>https://supchina.com/2022/03/09/china-tries-to-square-a-circle-in-ukraine/</u>.
- 118 Ezra Vogel, Deng Xiaoping and the Transformation of China, Bellknap Press/Harvard University Press.
- 119 Gregory Shaffer and Henry Gao, *A New Chinese Economic Order?*, Journal of International Economic Law, 2020, 23(3), 607.
- 120 Tim Rühlig, "The Shape of Things to Come: The Race to Control Technical Standardization," Swedish Institute of International Affairs, p. 32.
- 121 Robert L. Mallett, *Why Standards Matter*, Issues in Science and Technology, Winter 1998-1999, Vol. 15, No. 2, pages 63-66.
- 122 This had happened in China with the development of TD-SCDMA (mobile), WAPI (wireless LAN encryption), and AVD and CBHD (digital disc players) standards, all of which had limited support in the country and none outside it. See John VerWey, *Chinese Semiconductor Industrial Policy: Prospects for Future Success*, Journal of International Commerce and Economics, August 2019.
- 123 Nigel Inkster, *The Great Decoupling: China, America and the Struggle for Technological Supremacy* (Hurst and Publisher, 2020) p. 13.
- 124 Chris Miller, Chip War: The Fight for the World's Most Critical Technology (Simon & Schuster UK, 2022) p. 297.
- 125 Chris Miller, *Chip War: The Fight for the World's Most Critical Technology* (Simon & Schuster UK, 2022) p. 297.
- 126 Mark Zachary Taylor, The Politics of Innovation: Why Some Countries are Better Than Others at Science and Technology (Oxford University Press, 2016)
- 127 Mark Zachary Taylor, *The Politics of Innovation: Why Some Countries are Better Than Others at Science and Technology* (Oxford University Press, 2016) p. 110.
- 128 Secure World Foundation, 10 Years of the Wolf Amendment: Assessing Effects and Outcomes. <u>https://</u> <u>swfound.org/media/207289/10-years-of-the-wolf-amendment_-assessing-effects-and-outcomes_transcript-1.</u> <u>pdf.</u>
- 129 Kristin Fisher and Sonnet Swire, "Top Space Force official: China is developing space capabilities at 'twice the rate' of U.S.," CNN, December 5, 2021, <u>https://edition.cnn.com/2021/12/04/politics/american-experts-us-china-space-race/index.html</u>.
- 130 Chris Miller, Chip War: The Fight for the World's Most Critical Technology (Simon & Schuster UK, 2022) p. 329.
- 131 Kate Park, "Softbank, NEC, Sony, Toyota + More Team Up for Rapidus, Japan's Next Bid for Tech Domination," TechCrunch, November 11, 2022, <u>https://techcrunch.com/2022/11/11/</u> softbank-nec-sony-toyota-more-team-up-for-rapidus-japans-bid-for-next-gen-chip-domination/.
- 132 Julian Ryall, "Japan strengthens hold on semiconductor raw material amid global chip shortage," South China Morning Post, September 28, 2021, <u>https://www.scmp.com/week-asia/politics/article/3150323/</u> japan-strengthens-hold-semiconductor-raw-materials-amid-global.

- 133 Debi Ghifari, Indonesia joins global race to become semiconductor hub, targets US investment, The Jakarta Post, November 3, 2022, <u>https://asianews.network/ indonesia-joins-global-race-to-become-semiconductor-hub-targets-us-investment/</u>.
- 134 European Parliament, "5G in the EU and Chinese telecoms suppliers," April 2019, <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ATAG/2019/637912/EPRS_ATA(2019)637912_EN.pdf</u>.
- 135 European Parliament, 2014-2019, Texts Adopted, "Security threats connected with the rising Chinese technological presence in the EU and possible action on the EU level to reduce them," <u>https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2019-0156_EN.pdf.</u>
- 136 Keynote Remarks of NSCS Director William Evanina at the LegalSEC Summit 2019, June 4, 2019, <u>https://www.dni.gov/files/NCSC/documents/news/20190606-NCSC-Remarks-ILTA-Summit_2019.pdf</u>.
- 137 Thierry Breton, The Geopolitics of Technology, July 27, 2021. <u>https://www.linkedin.com/pulse/geopolitics-technology-thierry-breton</u>.
- 138 European Commission, Speech by President Elect, Ursula Von Der Leyen, November 27, 2019, <u>https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/es/speech_19_6408</u>.
- 139 European Court of Auditors, Special Report: 5G Roll-out in the EU, 2022, <u>https://www.eca.europa.eu/Lists/</u> ECADocuments/SR22_03/SR_Security-5G-networks_EN.pdf.
- 140 "EU-China A Strategic Outlook," European Commission and HR/VP contribution to the European Council, March 12, 2019, <u>https://commission.europa.eu/system/files/2019-03/communication-eu-china-astrategic-outlook.pdf</u>.
- 141 Akihiro Ota, Japan's Softbank and KDDI to pump \$38bn into 5G, *Nikkei*, November 4, 2020, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Spotlight/5G-networks/Japan-s-SoftBank-and-KDDI-to-pump-38bn-into-5G</u>.
- 142 Hiroyuki Manpuku, Japan, other countries developing 'open standards' for 5G to get Huawei out of the game, Japan Forward, July 29, 2020, <u>https://japan-forward.com/</u> japan-other-countries-developing-open-standards-for-5g-to-get-huawei-out-of-the-game/.
- 143 Press Conference by (then) Japanese Foreign Minister Motegi Toshimitsu, October 16, 2020, <u>https://www.mofa.go.jp/press/kaiken/kaiken4e_000857.html</u>.
- 144 Tsubasa Suruga and Akihiro Ota, "Huawei purge revives Japan's 5G hopes, once thought dead," *Nikkei*, July 16, 2020, <u>https://asia.nikkei.com/Spotlight/5G-networks/</u> <u>Huawei-purge-revives-Japan-s-5G-hopes-once-thought-dead</u>.
- 145 Park Chan-Kyong, Biden's US\$ 50 billion for U.S. chip industry puts South Korea on the spot with China," South China Morning Post, April 14, 2021, <u>https://www.scmp.com/week-asia/politics/article/3129515/</u> bidens-us50-billion-us-chip-industry-puts-south-korea-spot-china.
- 146 "United States-Republic of Korea Leaders' Joint Statement," White House, May 21, 2022, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2022/05/21/</u><u>united-states-republic-of-korea-leaders-joint-statement/</u>.
- 147 "U.S. Security Cooperation With ROK," fact sheet, U.S. Department of State, May 9, 2023, <u>https://www.state.gov/u-s-security-cooperation-with-korea/</u>.
- 148 Christian Davies, Song Jung-a, Kana Inagaki, and Richard Waters, "U.S. struggles to mobilise its East Asian "Chip4 Alliance," *Financial Times*, September 13, 2022, <u>https://www.ft.com/</u> <u>content/98f22615-ee7e-4431-ab98-fb6e3f9de032</u>.
- 149 Gatra Priyandita, Dirk van der Kley, Benjamin Herscovitch, "Localization and China's Tech Success in Indonesia," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, July 11, 2022, p. 13. <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/2022/07/11/localization-and-china-s-tech-success-in-indonesia-pub-87477</u>.
- 150 Gatra Priyandita, Dirk van der Kley, Benjamin Herscovitch, "Localization and China's Tech Success in Indonesia," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, July 11, 2022, p. 21. <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/2022/07/11/localization-and-china-s-tech-success-in-indonesia-pub-87477.</u>
- 151 Ben Bland, Evan Laksmana, and Natasha Kassam, "Indonesia Poll 2021: Charting Their Own Course: How Indonesians See the World," Lowy Institute, April 2022, 13, <u>https://interactives.lowyinstitute.org/features/indonesia-poll-2021</u>.

- 152 Chinese manufacturers such as Xiaomi, Huawei, Haier, ZTE, and Lenovo had successfully broken into the Indian market and had become household names. See Saibal Dasgupta, *Running with the Dragon: How India Should Do Business With China*, p. ix.
- 153 Ananta Agarwal, "How's the China-India economic relationship changed 2 years on from the deadly Galwan Valley border clash," South China Morning Post, June 25, 2022, <u>https://www.scmp.com/economy/global-economy/article/3182957/hows-china-india-economic-relationship-changed-2-years</u>
- 154 "Press Note No. 3 (2020 Series)," Government of India, Ministry of Commerce & Industry, April 17, 2020, https://dpiit.gov.in/sites/default/files/pn3_2020.pdf.
- 155 Rahul Shrivastava, "TikTok, ShareIt, UC Browser among 59 Chinese apps banned by India as border tensions simmer in Ladakh," India Today, June 30, 2020, <u>https://www.indiatoday.in/india/story/</u> <u>centre-announces-ban-chinese-apps-privacy-issues-1695265-2020-06-29</u>.
- 156 Danish Khan, "End of Road for Huawei, and ZTE in India," Economic Times, May 30, 2020, <u>https://telecom.economictimes.indiatimes.com/news/</u> <u>huawei-zte-struggle-to-meet-trusted-sources-nod-requirements/91873345</u>.
- 157 S. Jaishankar, The India Way: Strategies for an Uncertain World, HarperCollins India, p. 11.
- 158 S. Jaishankar, The India Way: Strategies for an Uncertain World, HarperCollins India, p. 8.
- 159 Phillip Wen and Krishna Pokharel, "India's Manufacturing Push Takes an Audacious Gamble on Chips," *Wall Street Journal*, December 13, 2022, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/ indias-manufacturing-push-takes-an-audacious-gamble-on-chips-11670946984</u>.
- 160 NIST Special Publication, NIST SP 1282, Incentives, Infrastructure, and Research and Development Needs to Support a Strong Domestic Semiconductor Industry: Summary of Responses to Request for Information, August 2022.
- 161 S. Jaishankar, The India Way: Strategies for an Uncertain World, HarperCollins India, p. 17.
- 162 "Recommendations on Promoting Local Telecom Equipment Manufacturing," Telecom Regulatory Authority of India, August 3, 2018, <u>https://www.trai.gov.in/sites/default/files/Recommendations</u> <u>LTEM_03082018_0.pdf</u>.
- 163 Pratap Vikram Singh, "Reliance Jio's 5G push to be India's answer to Huawei," The Ken, May 7, 2020, https://the-ken.com/story/reliance-jios-5g-push-to-be-indias-answer-to-huawei/.
- 164 Panos Constantinides, "Regulating Digital Platforms: Business Models, Technology Architectures, and Governance Rules," TechReg Chronicle, January 2022, p. 31. <u>https://www.competitionpolicyinternational.</u> <u>com/wp-content/uploads/2022/01/4-Regulating-Digital-Platforms-Business-Models-Technology-Architectures-and-Governance-Rules-by-Panos-Constantinides.pdf.</u>
- 165 C.P. Chandrasekhar and Jayati Ghosh, "The imbalance that underlies India's software success," Hindu Businessline, January 13, 2018, <u>https://www.thehindubusinessline.com/opinion/columns/c-p-chandrasekhar/the-imbalance-that-underlies-indias-software-success/article9582278.ece</u>.
- 166 Mark Zachary Taylor, *The Politics of Innovation: Why Some Countries are Better Than Others at Science and Technology*, Oxford University Press, 2016.
- 167 Raghuram G. Rajan, "Just Say No to "Friend-Shoring," Project Syndicate, June 3, 2022, <u>https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/</u> <u>friend-shoring-higher-costs-and-more-conflict-without-resilience-by-raghuram-rajan-2022-06</u>.
- 168 Raghuram G. Rajan, "Just Say No to "Friend-Shoring," Project Syndicate, June 3, 2022, <u>https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/</u> <u>friend-shoring-higher-costs-and-more-conflict-without-resilience-by-raghuram-rajan-2022-06.</u>
- 169 "TSDSI's 5G Radio Interface Technology '5Gi' Approved by SG5 of ITU-R as Part of Upcoming ITU-R Recommendation M.[IMT-2020.SPECS]," Telecommunications Standards Development Society, India, December 2, 2020, <u>https://tsdsi.in/tsdsis-5g-radio-interface-technology-5gi-approved-by-sg5-of-itu-r-aspart-of-upcoming-itu-r-recommendation-m-imt-2020-specs/.</u>

- 170 Standing Committee on Communications and Information Technology (2021-2022), Lok Sabha, 36th Report, "Action Taken by the Government on the Observations/Recommendations of the Committee contained in their Twenty-first Report (Seventeenth Lok Sabha) on 'India's preparedness for 5G'," March 2022.<u>https://loksabhadocs.nic.in/lsscommittee/Communications%20and%20Information%20</u> <u>Technology/17 Communications and Information Technology 36.pdf</u>.
- 171 Shilpa Phadnis, "Most of the world trusts tech from India: Microsoft's Brad Smith," September 5, 2022, https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/business/international-business/most-of-the-world-trusts-tech-fromindia-microsofts-brad-smith/articleshow/93990747.cms.
- 172 U.S. National Security Commission on Artificial Intelligence (Final Report), Chapter 15: A Favourable International Technology Order – Blueprint for Action, p. 519. <u>https://www.nscai.gov/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/Full-Report-Digital-1.pdf</u>.

Carnegie India

Founded in 2016, Carnegie India, based in New Delhi, is part of a robust global network that includes over 150 scholars in more than twenty countries around the world. The center focuses primarily on three interrelated programs: technology and society, political economy, and security studies. Led by Indian experts with decades of international and domestic policy experience, Carnegie India engages with governments, policymakers, academics, students, industries, practitioners, and civil society to provide insightful and fresh analysis on India's pressing challenges and the rising role of India in the world.

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace

The Carnegie Endowment for International Peace is a unique global network of policy research centers around the world. Our mission, dating back more than a century, is to advance peace through analysis and development of fresh policy ideas and direct engagement and collaboration with decisionmakers in government, business, and civil society. Working together, our centers bring the inestimable benefit of multiple national viewpoints to bilateral, regional, and global issues.



CarnegieIndia.org